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The Moorebank terminal is an important part of 
the Australian Government’s commitment to work 
with the NSW Government to increase national 
and state productivity by improving efficiency 
and freight throughput at Port Botany and across 
Australia. It will enable more freight to be moved 
by rail, instead of road, both locally and nationally. 
The terminal will have an import-export (IMEX) 
facility with a direct rail link to Port Botany, 
bypassing Sydney’s congested road network. It will 
also have an interstate freight terminal, connecting 
with the national rail freight network via the 
Southern Sydney Freight Line.

The project complements Australian and State 
Government infrastructure plans, including:

 Ύ the Australian Government’s investment in  
the Australian Rail Track Corporation’s North-
South Strategy, as well as its contributions to 
the Northern Sydney Freight Corridor Project 
and the Port Botany Freight Line;

 Ύ the NSW Government’s target of doubling the 
proportion of containers moved by rail through 
NSW ports by 2019-20;

 Ύ the NSW Freight and Ports strategy, which 
recognises the role of the Moorebank 
terminal in the overall freight network and the 
importance of Moorebank as a broader freight 
precinct;

 Ύ the Infrastructure Australia Audit (May 
2015), which identified the future shortfall in 
intermodal capacity in Sydney; 

 Ύ Infrastructure Australia’s National Land Freight 
Strategy and its National Ports Strategy, which 
both emphasise the importance of intermodal 
terminals and improved rail logistics to make 
port-related activities in the freight network 
more internationally competitive; and

 Ύ Infrastructure Australia’s Australian 
Infrastructure Plan, which reinforces the 
importance of the Moorebank terminal.

On 3 June 2015, MIC entered into agreements 
with the Sydney Intermodal Terminal Alliance 
(SIMTA) – a consortium of Qube and Aurizon, two 
of Australia’s leading freight logistics companies – 
to develop and operate the terminal on a precinct 
comprising land owned by the Commonwealth and 
neighbouring land owned by SIMTA.

The Australian Government established Moorebank 
Intermodal Company (MIC) on 13 December 2012. 
A board was appointed and MIC started operating 
in February 2013. MIC’s purpose is to oversee the  
development and future operation of the 
Moorebank Intermodal Terminal. This terminal in  
Sydney’s south-west will be a vital open access  
logistics hub. It is a nationally significant 
infrastructure project to boost Australia’s 
productivity. 

MIC is a Government Business Enterprise, 
incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 
and operating under the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Act 2013. 
The organisation is a wholly owned Australian 
Government Company represented by two 
shareholder ministers: the Minister for 
Infrastructure and Transport (being the 

Responsible Minister), the Hon Darren Chester 
MP, and the Minister for Finance, Senator the Hon 
Mathias Cormann. MIC operates at arm’s-length 
from Government and with a commercial focus. 
This has given MIC the flexibility to work with the 
operators and other partners, particularly during 
procurement of the terminal, to maximise the 
opportunities for private sector involvement and 
innovation at the terminal.

The early assumptions about the Moorebank 
terminal’s viability have been proven and refined 
through the private sector’s interest in funding, 
developing and operating the terminal.  
The terminal’s viability has also been improved 
through the agreement MIC has reached with a 
private sector operator to ensure a value-for-
money outcome for the government’s investment.

 ▪ Moorebank Intermodal Company

 ▪ Moorebank Intermodal Terminal
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 ▪ MIC’s Objectives

The objectives, set out in MIC’s constitution, are:

 Ύ to facilitate the development of an intermodal 
freight terminal at Moorebank, including an 
IMEX facility, an interstate freight terminal 
capable of catering for 1,800 metre trains  
and ancillary facilities, by optimising private 
sector investment and innovation in the 
development, construction and operation  
of the intermodal terminal;

 Ύ to facilitate the operation of a flexible and 
commercially viable common user facility  
that shall be available on reasonably 
comparable terms to all rail operators and 
other terminal users;

 Ύ to ensure the intermodal terminal operates 
with the aim of improving national productivity 
through an efficient supply chain, increased 
freight capacity and better rail utilisation;

 Ύ to operate on commercially sound principles, 
having regard to the Australian Government’s 
long-term intention to sell its interest in  
the company;

 Ύ upon notification by the Commonwealth 
shareholder, provide assistance as required 
to facilitate a sale of the Commonwealth’s 
interest in the company; and

 Ύ to do all things that are necessary, convenient 
or incidental to carrying out or for the 
attainment of these objectives.

In achieving these objectives, MIC will deliver 
a value-for-money solution to the Australian 
Government and act in an environmentally and 
socially responsible manner with due regard to  
the views of local communities. 

This means that the terminal development will 
consider the benefits that can be provided to the 
local community as well as minimise the adverse 
effects on nearby residents and businesses.

 ▪ Vision

MIC is making possible a world class 
intermodal terminal that achieves a 
significant mode shift to rail transport  
of containerised freight.

In partnership with the private sector,  
MIC is making the most of opportunities 
presented by the precinct, to create a 
successful, sustainable terminal that  
is efficient, effective and valued by  
multiple users.

The terminal is a game changer in container 
freight logistics, widely acknowledged for  
its model delivery.

As a good neighbour MIC listens to,  
respects, and contributes positively to  
the community, and encourages its  
partners to do the same.

MIC's  objectives
& vision
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2015-16 was a year of finalising planning approvals, 
satisfying the conditions precedent and preparing 
for financial close – a critical milestone for MIC. 
Financial close is imminent.

The granting of the environmental and planning 
approvals will enable SIMTA to begin construction. 

The 2015 agreement takes a whole-of-precinct 
approach by combining the Commonwealth site 
with the neighbouring SIMTA site. It gives the 
Australian Government a low-risk, value-for-money 
solution that will deliver: a larger than planned 
precinct; improved commercial and environmental 
outcomes; greater local economic benefits, 
including more jobs; and an interstate terminal  
a decade earlier than originally planned.

During the year, MIC achieved most of the 
conditions precedent required to reach the 
agreement’s financial close. Nevertheless, 
the process was held up by delays in planning 
approvals. The matter was referred to the  
NSW Planning Assessment Commission in  
the first week of December 2015, and approval  
was granted on 3 June 2016. Commonwealth 

planning approval, which was contingent on the 
NSW finding, is expected to be granted shortly.  

The fact that the delivery program remains  
largely on track, despite the delayed planning 
approvals, is testimony to a year of diligent 
planning, preparation and cooperation by  
MIC and SIMTA. Together, we made the most  
of the wait for planning approval, thinking carefully 
through the necessary steps ahead, completing 
early works and finding the right contractors. In 
March 2016, SIMTA awarded a services  
phase contract to Laing O’Rourke to investigate 
and design the import-export (IMEX) terminal.  
MIC also negotiated a Rail Access Early Works 
deed that allowed SIMTA to engage its preferred 
supplier, CPB Contractors, to progress with 
geotechnical investigations and the design  
work for rail access.

The resulting early progress, together with the 
year’s planning and preparation, gives the Board 
confidence that MIC is well positioned nonetheless 
to meet our original operations timeframes.

MESSAGE  
FROM  
THE  CHAIR  
AND  CEO

 ▪ Ready to build a vital piece of 
national infrastructure

The Moorebank intermodal terminal is one of our 
nation’s most important freight infrastructure 
projects. It will help to meet the NSW 
Government’s and NSW Ports’ targets to increase 
the proportion of freight moving to and from Port 
Botany by rail, in the process easing congestion on 
local and interstate roads and delivering social, 
economic and environmental benefits. 

Currently, Port Botany receives about one-third of 
Australia’s IMEX container freight, with about 2.3 
million twenty-foot equivalent units (TEU) arriving 
at the port each year. At present, around 85 per 
cent of these containers are transported by road. 
By 2045, NSW Ports forecasts that the port will 
be processing more than three times the current 
number of TEU – volumes on the already congested 
road network.  For Sydney’s roads to remain viable, 
rail must become a more significant component of  
the port’s logistics chain.  

Recognising this, the NSW Government has set 
a target of doubling the rail component to about 

28 per cent of containerised freight by 2020. 
In October 2015, in its 30-year master plan, 
Navigating the Future, NSW Ports also recognised 
that increasing the movement of containers by rail 
is critical to accommodating the forecast growth 
in a “cost-effective, efficient and sustainable 
manner”. The master plan, which includes the 
development and operation of Moorebank as an 
action item, sets a target for rail to take three 
million TEU per year of forecast container volumes 
(about 40 per cent) by 2045. 

Currently, Sydney has insufficient intermodal 
capacity to achieve either of these targets. 
Sydney’s existing IMEX intermodal terminals 
at Minto, Yennora, Cooks River and Villawood, 
are small and relatively outdated. Some do not 
connect easily with the rail freight network.  
Their current combined IMEX annual throughput  
is only about 300–350,000 TEU. Together with 
other new and much needed IMEX intermodal 
facilities, including at Chullora and Enfield,  
these intermodal facilities have the potential  
to grow to an annual IMEX throughput of  
about 900,000 TEU – still well short of  
three million.  

8 9
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The Moorebank intermodal terminal will play a 
critical role in helping Sydney to reach that target, 
eventually adding 1,050,000 TEU capacity per 
year. Without this new, efficient IMEX intermodal 
terminal capacity, Sydney will not be able to 
accommodate the forecast growth in container 
throughput at Port Botany. Even with it, the city 
will still need other IMEX intermodal terminal 
developments to meet its rail freight targets.

The terminal will also help Sydney to handle  
the forecast 3-4 per cent annual growth in 
interstate freight transfers, which are currently 
made almost entirely by road. To move some of 
this interstate freight traffic off the nation’s roads, 
the Australian Government is investing in the 
interstate rail freight network. However, to  
take advantage of this investment, Australia  
needs a network of intermodal facilities. This is 
especially critical in Sydney, which currently has 
the lowest domestic container rail throughput  
of all the major capitals. 

Moorebank will be essential to help meet this 
growing need for interstate TEU capacity. The 
interstate terminal will initially be developed to 
handle 250,000 containers a year by 2020 and up 
to 500,000 by 2030.

 ▪ Upgrading local infrastructure 

To function efficiently and effectively, the 
Moorebank terminal will need supporting 
infrastructure upgrades: a local road system  
that can cope with both background traffic  
growth and terminal traffic; and an efficient rail 
freight line with sufficient capacity to handle the 
planned throughput volumes. During the year,  
MIC continued to receive close cooperation from 
NSW Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) and 
Australian Rail Track Corporation (ARTC)  
towards meeting these requirements.

 ▪ Encouraging mode shift

During the year MIC continued to work closely 
with stakeholders to encourage a mode shift from 

road to rail. In December 2015, in a welcome 
move supporting this goal, the NSW Government 
formed the Port Botany Rail Optimisation Group 
to determine how the port-rail interface can be 
improved at Port Botany.  The group, which has an 
independent chair, comprises the chief executives 
of NSW Ports, the three stevedores at Port Botany, 
the rail operators currently accessing Port Botany 
and ARTC. Its aim, which MIC strongly supports, is 
to consider the port end of the logistics chain as if 
it were all owned and operated by one party.    

In the coming year, MIC will further promote 
rail’s competitiveness for freight transport by 
supporting improvements at the port-rail interface 
and to the rail link between Moorebank and Port 
Botany, performance standards across the rail 
freight lines, and an end-to-end focus by individual 
participants. MIC will also assist Infrastructure 
Australia in developing a coordinated network 
of interstate and regional intermodal terminals 
as part of its National Freight and Supply Chain 
Strategy.

 ▪ Supporting local employment 
opportunities

Like an airport, the terminal will become an 
economic powerhouse, creating jobs and 
attracting investment. During the year, MIC 
had discussions with industry and education 
stakeholders to help understand the terminal’s 
training and educational needs, aiming to have the 
employment opportunities the terminal generates 
filled by local people. 

To support this process, MIC commissioned 
Deloitte Australia to better define the numbers and 
types of jobs the terminal will create. Deloitte’s 
researchers concluded that, when at full capacity, 
the terminal will provide approximately 6,800 
full-time equivalent employment opportunities in 
warehousing, transport, terminal operations, site 
management and ancillary services.

Beyond this, the terminal’s scale could also 
expand the number and nature of employment 

1110
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shareholder ministers and their departments, the 
collaborative approach of the NSW Government 
and the close cooperation of NSW Ports, RMS and 
ARTC. 

We pay tribute to the professionalism, tenacity 
and patience of the excellent MIC team and the 
considerable hands-on efforts of the Board, both 
past and present.

Finally, we recognise SIMTA for continuing to 
justify its selection as the best candidate to 
develop and operate the Moorebank intermodal 
terminal. SIMTA’s vision for the terminal is to use 
the integrated precinct to deliver substantial 
improvements in productivity through an efficient 
freight supply chain—supporting higher volumes, 
increased freight capacity and greater rail freight 
utilisation. We look forward to working together to 
realise that vision.

Kerry Schott Ian Hunt
Chair Chief Executive Officer

1
 FINANCIAL CLOSE

Satisfying the last few conditions precedent and 
therefore achieving financial close is MIC’s most 
pressing focus in the new financial year. 

2
 DELIVERY

Following achievement of financial close,  
MIC will take a governance role, overseeing 
delivery of the terminal to ensure its investment 
continues to achieve the Commonwealth’s 
objectives. This will involve working closely 
with SIMTA, its prime subcontractors, and the 
Independent Verifier, adopting cooperative 
relationship practices that support a joint team 
approach, while still respecting the strictly 
defined contractual framework. 

MIC will also continue to support the success of 
the project, facilitating productive relationships 
between state and commonwealth governments 
and other stakeholders, and ensuring the 
terminal is developed in an environmentally 
sensitive manner, including meeting all 
remediation responsibilities.

The initial construction timetable includes:

 Ύ Early works including demolition and 
remediation works, commencing in 
September 2016;

 Ύ Construction of the rail connection between 
terminal and the Southern Sydney Freight 
Line, commencing in September 2016;

 Ύ Construction of the first stage of the IMEX 
terminal, commencing in October 2016.

3
 COMMUNITY

SIMTA now has front-line responsibility 
for liaising with community members and 
other stakeholders about constructing and 
operating the terminal. MIC will oversee 
these activities and continue to engage 
with the community about the benefits 
the terminal and its operations will bring 
to local people, particularly with regard 
to training and job creation. MIC will also 
refine the community benefits package and 
administer its implementation.

4
 SUPPORTING THE SUCCESS  

OF THE TERMINAL

The commercial success of the terminal 
depends on a mode shift from road to 
rail, and upgrades and extensions to 
surrounding infrastructure to ensure 
appropriate road and rail access. MIC 
will continue to engage with industry 
and stakeholders, to ensure the terminal 
becomes a successful, multi-user freight 
precinct.  

opportunities in the local area through a variety  
of tenants, ranging from hotels and shopping 
centres, to heavy rail maintenance yards to 
educational facilities. Already, a number of 
educational institutions are looking to enhance 
their footprint in western Sydney. 

The resulting future injection of jobs will be 
particularly timely, given the employment situation 
in the local area, as population growth rates in 
western and south-west Sydney significantly 
exceed job growth rates.  

 ▪ Board changes

During the year, the board was reduced from eight 
to five non-executive directors, giving it a more 
appropriate size for the oversight role that MIC 
will now assume. We thank departing directors 
Stephen Williams, Louise Thurgood, Zorana Bull 
and Christopher Brown for their contributions to 
MIC’s success. 

By reappointing the Chair (Dr Kerry Schott),  
Paul Binsted, Ray Wilson and Claire Filson for 
a second term, the Australian Government has 
created continuity and stability as the project 
moves into the construction and delivery stage. 
We also welcome the appointment of Lucio Di 
Bartolomeo, previously the interim Chief Executive 
Officer of MIC, as a non-executive director.  
With more than 40 years’ experience in the 
transport industry, including a previous role as a 
non-executive director of ARTC, Mr Di Bartolomeo 
brings to the board extensive experience 
in overseeing major rail, infrastructure and 
engineering operations. 

 ▪ The year ahead 

MIC has four main areas of focus in the coming year:
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 ▪ Master plan

Under the June 2015 agreements, the Moorebank intermodal terminal is to comprise:

 Ύ an IMEX intermodal terminal with an ultimate capacity of 1,050,000 TEU per year;
 Ύ an interstate terminal with an ultimate capacity of 500,000 TEU per year;
 Ύ up to 850,000 square metres of warehousing; and
 Ύ other associated facilities, including precinct infrastructure, and the possible relocation of Moorebank 

Avenue to the east of the precinct.  
 

Development scope and timeframe

MIC’s role is to:

 Ύ contribute its developable land and  
the biodiversity offset land;

 Ύ fund the preparation of that land so it is 
suitable for industrial development, i.e. 
contamination remediation and benching;

 Ύ fund the development of the rail connection 
between terminal and the Southern  
Sydney Freight Line;

 Ύ fund some of the cost of relocating  
Moorebank Avenue; and

 Ύ fund its share of voluntary planning 
contributions.

SIMTA’s role is to:

 Ύ contribute its developable land; 
 Ύ prepare all land so it is suitable for industrial 

development;
 Ύ build, maintain and operate the rail access;
 Ύ fund, build, maintain and operate the IMEX 

and interstate terminals, and the associated 
precinct infrastructure;

 Ύ develop and lease the warehousing; and 
 Ύ obtain all future planning approvals.

PRECINCT 
COMPONENT

INITIAL  
CAPACITY

EXPECTED 
OPERATIONS 
COMMENCEMENT

ULTIMATE  
CAPACITY

IMEX terminal 250,000 TEU per annum mid 2018 1,050,000 TEU* per annum

Interstate terminal 250,000 TEU per annum early 2020 500,000 TEU per annum

Warehousing Developed in line with demand  
over a 10 to 15-year period

850,000 m2

* TEU = Twenty-foot equivalent unit container

The contractual structure provides a robust and enforceable governance framework to protect the 
investment, deliver the policy outcomes and safeguard the Commonwealth from unintended consequences.  
Under the agreements, SIMTA takes the majority of the demand and revenue risk.  MIC’s revenues are largely 
shielded from exposure to throughput volume.
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DELIVERY MILESTONES 
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COMMENCE MAIN 
CONSTRUCTION WORKS

IMEX TERMINAL 
OPERATIONAL

INTERSTATE TERMINAL 
OPERATIONAL

September 2016 mid 2018 early 2020
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OPEN    
ACCESS   
STRATEGY

MIC’s agreement with SIMTA includes a 
contractually enforceable open access 
regime that requires the terminal’s 
operator to provide access on an open 
and non-discriminatory basis. The regime 
reflects various factors, including the 
Commonwealth’s objective that any rail or 
road operator be able to use the terminals 
on reasonable terms; SIMTA’s commercial 
imperative to promote efficiency, 
productivity and volume at the terminals; 
and the competitive nature of the freight 
transport industry.

The open access regime gives any rail or road 
transport operator the right to use all the services 
they need to be able to provide freight transport 
via the intermodal terminal. It also requires the 
terminal operator to provide access to these 
services on non-discriminatory terms, using:

 Ύ Published references prices – set according 
to principles to ensure prices reflect efficient 
costs and include a reasonable return with 
regard to business, commercial and regulatory 
risks.

 Ύ A published access protocol – including a ‘use 
it or lose it’ regime and rules for allocating 
terminal capacity to access seekers and 
prioritising requests on the basis of favouring 
requests that maximise the efficient and most 
valuable use of the terminal.

 Ύ A standard customer contract – published on 
the terminal operator’s website.

If an access seeker or customer believes it has 
not been treated in a non-discriminatory manner, 
it can use the open access regime’s complaints 
handling procedure and dispute resolution process 
– or complain to MIC. Separately, MIC will also 
monitor compliance with the open access regime 
through an annual compliance and performance 
report from the terminal operator. 
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 ▪ Environmental planning 
approvals

NSW APPROVALS

The NSW Department of Planning and 
Environments (DP&E) referred its assessment 
report and draft conditions of approval for  
MIC’s Stage 1 Concept Approval to the NSW 
Planning Assessment Commission (PAC) on 10 
December 2015. In the first three months of 2016, 
MIC responded to PAC’s requests for presentations, 
clarifications and a site visit. MIC also attended 
a public meeting, on 1 February 2016, for both 
the MIC and SIMTA planning applications, to hear 
public views on the DP&E assessment report and 
recommendation. The PAC granted approval,  
with conditions, on 3 June 2016.  

COMMONWEALTH APPROVAL

MIC submitted its final documentation to the now 
Commonwealth Department of the Environment 
and Energy (DoEE) on 16 December 2015 for 
determination. 

On 2 February 2016, DoEE approved the EPBC 
referral variation and provided MIC with a ‘stop 
the clock’ letter, giving DoEE 40 business days to 
assess and determine MIC’s application from the 
date the NSW PAC made its determination.

REZONING APPROVAL

In October 2014, the DP&E exhibited MIC’s 
planning proposal to change the zoning of the 
land for the terminal and the rail connection to 
facilitate the development of the terminal, should 
it be approved.

The proposal was gazetted on 24 June 2016.

The planning proposal amends the Liverpool Local 
Environmental Plan 2008 by:

 Ύ rezoning the proposed intermodal site from 
SP2 Infrastructure (Defence) to  
E3 Environmental Management and IN1  
General Industrial;

 Ύ amending the Height of Building Map and the 
Floor Space Ratio Map to allow for maximum 
building heights and densities respectively;

 Ύ inserting local provisions to allow additional 
uses on the intermodal site, including on land 
subject to the proposed rail connection; and

 Ύ inserting a ‘satisfactory arrangements’ clause 
to ensure adequate provision is made for 
infrastructure upgrades.

VOLUNTARY PLANNING CONTRIBUTIONS

The NSW planning approvals and the rezoning 
of MIC’s land trigger consideration of an 
infrastructure contribution via voluntary planning 
agreements. The quantum of MIC’s contributions 
will not be known until the impacts on local road 
infrastructure and local community infrastructure 
are better quantified and the relevant authorities 
make claims on impacts.  

To allow meaningful discussion with RMS, 
Transport for NSW (TfNSW) and councils on local 
road impacts, MIC is undertaking detailed traffic 
modelling. In early 2016, RMS provided MIC and 
SIMTA with base models as a common starting 
point. In the coming year, MIC will develop and 
coordinate its modelling with RMS to determine 
the road solutions to address Liverpool’s current 
and future traffic congestion. MIC will then discuss 
contributions for project impacts with RMS, TfNSW 
and the councils.  

 ▪ External infrastructure

ROAD ACCESS

RMS is conducting the Liverpool Moorebank 
Arterial Roads Study to determine the needs, 

20
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 Ύ continue to work with key stakeholders to 
understand training needs, identify existing 
training offerings and develop programs to 
attract local people and keep them engaged; 
and

 Ύ engage with Liverpool City Council and local 
business chambers to maximise their support 
for and involvement in training programs 
aimed at local people.

LIVERPOOL LOGISTICS CENTRE OF 
EXCELLENCE 

MIC and SIMTA regard the model for the  
operation of the Moorebank intermodal terminal  
as a unique combination of supply chain elements 
on one site, which will make it a game changer  
in container freight logistics. The terminal has  
the potential to attract other related enterprises 
to the Liverpool area, creating a sizable logistics-
based economy – in much the same way as  
Sydney Airport is the cornerstone of a diverse  
and thriving aviation economy in and around 
Mascot. This also offers the opportunity for 
Liverpool to become a national logistics ‘centre  
of excellence’.

In the coming year, MIC will promote this potential 
by briefing and engaging with relevant entities 
such as Liverpool City Council, the Greater Sydney 
Commission, and NSW and Commonwealth 
government trade and investment agencies.

COMMUNITY BENEFITS PACKAGE

MIC’s community program includes a $1 million 
local benefits package to offset some of the 
terminal’s impacts on the community and 
environment nearby. This package is on top of 
the mitigation measures MIC will take to ensure 
the terminal meets all relevant government 
environmental requirements. 

In 2014, MIC sought community input to the local 
benefits program via a citizens’ jury of 19 people 

solutions and priorities to accommodate the 
growing traffic in the area, including developing  
a comprehensive traffic model. During the year, 
MIC and SIMTA provided traffic survey data to 
support this process and reviewed the model 
during its development. RMS also provided a base 
model as a common starting point to help MIC 
develop its own modelling to inform voluntary 
planning agreements.

MIC has promoted three major road projects to 
support the terminal’s successful operation:

 Ύ Cambridge Avenue extension – this would 
create a new link to the M7 and M5 Motorways 
to help accommodate future traffic growth that 
will be generated by the residential growth 
and economic development expected in the 
region, particularly in the Campbelltown local 
government area.It would also provide an 
alternative road access to the terminal and 
allow future re-allocation of traffic patterns.

 Ύ A solution to the M5 ‘weave’ – located on 
the M5 Motorway between Moorebank Avenue 
and the Hume Highway – would resolve a 
significant source of congestion currently 
affecting broader road network performance 
and potentially adversely affecting truck 
access to and from the Moorebank intermodal 
terminal. This solution will be required as 
background traffic continues to grow.

 Ύ Hume Highway upgrade – this would upgrade 
poorly performing intersections along the 
Hume Highway between the M5 Motorway and 
Orange Grove Road.  Some of these upgrades 
are required now.  RMS is also assessing the 
Brickmakers Creek Bypass – an alternative that 
would provide a new road parallel to the Hume 
Highway.  

In the coming year, MIC will continue to coordinate 
with RMS to help develop road solutions to address 
Liverpool’s current and future traffic congestion.  

RAIL ACCESS

For the terminal to reach its ultimate capacity of 
1.55 million TEU per year, it is crucially important 
to augment the Southern Sydney Freight Line 
(SSFL), which currently has a capacity for 
Moorebank of only 490,000 TEU per year. As 
part of its 2015–2024 Sydney Metropolitan 
Freight Strategy, released in October 2015, ARTC 
confirmed that engineering analysis and costing 
should proceed on full duplication of the double 
track freight line from Mascot to Botany Yard and 
on a passing loop at Warwick Farm. During the 
year, MIC continued to monitor and support the 
progress or these and other important initiatives to 
improve rail capacity.

The port suffers from ineffective rail access into 
and within the stevedores’ terminals due to low 
investment in rail sidings over the last 10 to 15 
years.  This is now being addressed by NSW 
Ports. NSW Ports’ 30-year master plan for Port 
Botany notes the need for stevedores to invest 
in additional rail infrastructure, including rail 
sidings and equipment, and stage this in line with 
demand. MIC will monitor progress to ensure that 
containers can be transported efficiently from the 
port to Moorebank.  

In 2016-17, MIC will continue to monitor progress 
of the planning approvals, land acquisition and 
associated funding required for these projects, 
mindful that the Warwick Farm passing loop needs 
to be completed by the end of 2020 to support the 
terminal’s throughput. 

In December 2015, MIC and SIMTA executed a 
Rail Access Early Works Deed allowing MIC to 
pay SIMTA for any MIC-funded rail access works 
costs prior to financial close. This enabled SIMTA’s 
rail access works services phase, which is being 
undertaken by CPB Contractors, to progress during 
the year, including geotechnical investigations, 
design, initial rail approvals and finalising 
construction costs.  

SUPPORT FROM INFRASTRUCTURE 
AUSTRALIA

In February 2016, all of the above upgrades 
received additional support from Infrastructure 
Australia, in its Australian Infrastructure Plan. 
The Plan included a priority list with a number 
of projects that will support the terminal’s 
development and future operation, including a 
road connection upgrade package to improve 
access to the terminal and the needed upgrades  
to the Southern Sydney Freight Line. 

 ▪ Community engagement

MIC believes the terminal (during both its 
development and operations) must fit comfortably 
within its local environment and provide the 
maximum opportunity for the benefits to be 
realised by the people living nearby.  During 
the year, MIC worked on a number of programs 
that will support the terminal’s social licence 
to operate, and leave a positive, lasting legacy 
from the Commonwealth’s involvement in the 
enterprise.

LOCAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

When the terminal is operating at full capacity,  
it will create approximately 6,800 new jobs on  
site – and many more at the secondary businesses 
the terminal will attract to the area. The scale of 
the operations will create an increased need for 
skills in logistics and related fields. During the 
year, MIC worked to ensure that, as far as possible, 
the job opportunities generated by the terminal 
are filled by people living nearby by creating 
access to suitable training to prepare local people 
for the new jobs. 

In 2016-17, MIC will:

 Ύ continue with research to better define the 
numbers and types of jobs, and thus determine 
the likely training needs;
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randomly selected from suburbs near the terminal 
site. The jury recommended that the program 
include: 

 Ύ scholarships at a local TAFE for residents living 
near the terminal that will target local business 
needs; 

 Ύ a ‘healthy living’ package, including exercise 
equipment for local parks and a healthy 
lifestyle training program modelled on 
Liverpool City Council’s former ‘Live Well in 
Liverpool – Healthy Communities Initiative’; 
and 

 Ύ a social enterprise, which could for example 
comprise an on-site café to provide, for 
example, jobs and an ongoing profit stream to 
be used for community initiatives. 

Since this package depends on the terminal 
receiving all planning and environmental 
approvals, it could not be implemented in 
2015-16. In 2016-17, MIC will refine the original 
recommendations with relevant stakeholder 
input – to ensure the package delivers a lasting 
legacy for the local community – and begin 
implementation.  

 ▪ Ecologically sustainable 
development

MIC is committed to the principles of ecologically 
sustainable development, as demonstrated by:

 Ύ the concept design for the terminal, which 
includes measures that improve some 
environmental outcomes, for example, 

 ▪ the terminal will produce a slight 
improvement in air quality across the  
Sydney region through the reduction in  
truck kilometres on Sydney roads each day;

 ▪ the inclusion of water sensitive urban  
design features to prevent degradation  
and may improve the water quality of 
 the Georges River;

 Ύ MIC’s commitment to securing the matching 
ecosystems for residual biodiversity offsets 
for the terminal to ensure the long-term 
protection and/or enhancement of existing 
habitat; and

 Ύ the EIS identified three core initiatives that  
can be implemented across the precinct  
during construction and operation to minimise 
the ecological footprint. These initiatives are:

 ▪ site management policies and strategies;
 ▪ material selection and energy and water 
demand management; and

 ▪ on-site renewable energy generation.

BIODIVERSITY OFFSET STRATEGY

MIC has developed a biodiversity offset strategy 
to meet the NSW Biodiversity Offset Policy for 
Major Projects 2014. This consists of offsets 
from Commonwealth-owned land together with 
biobanking credits to make up any shortfall. 
During the year, MIC worked with its shareholder 
departments to establish the form of the required 
biobanking agreements and closed out a number 
of issues with NSW Office of Environment 
and Heritage. In 2016-17, MIC will finalise the 
biobanking agreements required.  

 ▪ Work Health and Safety

MIC places a high priority on ensuring the work 
health and safety of its employees and contractors 
and during 2015-16 no safety incidents occurred. 

It has three roles in safety management:

1. Oversight of work health and safety of 
construction and operations  
MIC does not control the construction and 
operations of the terminal, but it must still 
secure the health and safety of its workers and 
workplaces. The construction and operations 
safety obligations have been contractually 
transferred to SIMTA, which is responsible 
for developing and operating the Moorebank 

Intermodal precinct. Nevertheless, MIC must 
maintain oversight to ensure that all work 
is undertaken in accordance with relevant 
Australian legislation, regulations and 
standards.  
 
In December 2015, the Board approved MIC’s 
Work Health and Safety Management Plan, 
which is consistent with legislation and good 
industry practice. Training to support the 
plan was rolled out in March 2016. The plan 
recognises that MIC has a due diligence and 
oversight role with respect to construction and 
operation activities of SIMTA as developer of 
the terminal. Under the plan, MIC will rely on 
SIMTA’s processes for general work health and 
safety as it relates to the terminal works and 
operations. However, MIC also has assurance, 
reporting and due diligence procedures in 
place so it can satisfy itself that SIMTA and its 
sub-contractors fulfil their workplace health 
and safety responsibilities.  

2. Oversight of rail safety of the construction 
and operations  
The terminal works and rail access must 
meet the requirements of the Rail Safety Act 
2012, under which SIMTA must operate a rail 
safety management system that addresses all 
the requirements of the Act and associated 
regulations. Since MIC’s responsibilities are 
due diligence and oversight, rail safety review, 
monitoring, auditing, reporting and assurance 
have been incorporated as requirements in the 
MIC Work Health and Safety Management Plan. 

3. Direct responsibility for the work health 
and safety of MIC’s employees and 
workplace  
MIC takes a risk management approach to 
workplace health and safety, which includes 
processes to identify, assess and control 
risks to a level as low as reasonably practical. 
In 2015–16 no safety incidents occurred. 

MIC operates primarily in a standard office 
environment, with occasional exposure to non-
office-based risks while travelling to and from 
and visiting the site at Moorebank.  When on 
site, MIC’s staff will be under the management 
of the relevant ‘principal contractor’, who will 
be SIMTA or one of its subcontractors, and 
who will be in control of the site in discharging 
all WHS obligations. MIC’s safety policies and 
procedures reflect this structure. 

MIC is supported by an independent, specialist 
safety adviser, AusSafe Consulting. During the year, 
together with MIC’s legal counsel, Herbert Smith 
Freehills, AusSafe assisted MIC in understanding 
its safety obligations and responsibilities and in 
preparing its safety management plans.  AusSafe 
will assist MIC with future auditing of safety 
performance. 

 ▪ Performance measures

During the year, MIC largely achieved the 
performance indicators set out in its Corporate 
Plan 2015–16. Its main achievements included 
gaining planning approvals and keeping SIMTA’s 
delivery milestones on target. MIC also achieved 
its financial targets of maintaining EBIT and its 
liquidity ratio better than budget.
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We work as a team and promote team success,  
act in a spirit of cooperation, and foster good relations 
with all our colleagues (internal and external).

We believe in our vision and inspire others,  
influence others to achieve the best results,  
and take responsibility for solving problems.

We are ethical, open and honest in all we do.  
We are dependable and reliable.

We treat everyone fairly and with respect and appreciate 
the same in return. We support and consider others,  
and value diversity and unique contributions.

We demonstrate commitment to high standards,  
and expect and support excellence in others. 
We are solution orientated and results driven,  
and are dedicated and tenacious.

COLLABORATION

LEADERSHIP

INTEGRITY AND TRUST

MUTUAL RESPECT

ACHIEVEMENT

BOARD

General  
Counsel

Delivery 
Director

Finance  
Director

Corporate Affairs 
Manager  

(1)

Governance 
Coordinator 

(1)

Communications
Coordinator  

(2)

HR 
Consultant 

(3)

Operations 
Coordinator

Project 
Engineer

Project 
Manager

CEO

Notes: (1) is 80% FTE; (2) is 60% FTE; (3) is 20% FTE contractor
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Paul Binsted – non-executive director
BEc, LLB
Appointed: 8 May 2013 (re-appointed on 8 May 2016 for a further 3-year term)

Mr Binsted is presently Chairman of Ariadne Capital Pty Ltd and a director of the 
Clean Energy Finance Corporation.

Mr Binsted has over thirty years’ investment banking experience. During that time, 
he held senior positions at Lloyds Corporate Advisory Services, Schroders and 
Salomon Smith Barney (now Citigroup), as well as being Managing Director and 
Joint CEO of Lazard. He has chaired both Sydney Ports Corporation and the State 
Rail Authority of NSW.  He was also a Chairman of the Financial Sector Advisory 
Council until 30 June this year.  He was also a Member of the Australian Financial 
Centre Forum (“Johnson Report”) and the Australian Government’s Shipping 
Reform Task Force.

Kerry Schott AO 
Chair and non-executive director  
BA (Hons), MA, DPhil 
Appointed: 13 December 2012   
(re-appointed on 13 December 2015 for a further 3-year term)

Dr Schott is Chair of Moorebank Intermodal Company Ltd and chair of 
TransGrid. She is a director of NBN Co, TCorp NSW, and Infrastructure 
Australia. She is also a member of several government advisory 
boards Sydney Metro, Sydney Light Rail and HealthShare NSW.

Dr Schott was Managing Director and CEO of Sydney Water from  
2006 to 2011; and a Deputy Secretary of NSW Treasury for three  
years before that.  She spent 15 years as an investment banker, 
including as Managing Director of Deutsche Bank and Executive  
Vice President of Bankers Trust Australia. During this time, she 
specialised in privatisation, restructuring, and infrastructure 
provision.  Prior to becoming an investment banker, she was a  
public servant and an academic.  

Dr Schott holds a doctorate from Oxford University, a Master of Arts 
from the University of British Columbia, Vancouver and a Bachelor of 
Arts from the University of New England.  She was recently awarded 
Honorary Doctorates from the University of Sydney and Western 
Sydney University.

Directors'
 Report

 ▪ Board of Directors

The following people served 
as Directors of Moorebank 
Intermodal Company Limited 
during the financial year  
ended 30 June 2016.      

All directors were appointed  
on three year terms.
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Christopher Brown, non-executive director – AM
Appointed: 8 May 2013 (term expired 7 May 2016)

Mr Brown has a strong infrastructure background and an active public policy role 
in western Sydney. Between 1992 and 2011, Mr Brown was Managing Director and 
Deputy Chair of the peak industry groups Infrastructure Partnerships Australia 
and Tourism & Transport Forum. Mr Brown was a founding director of the Greater 
Sydney Partnership, The Parramatta Economic Development Forum, a strategic 
adviser to the Committee for Sydney and an Adjunct Professor in the UTS Business 
School. He is currently the Executive Chair of a strategic engagement firm, Taylor 
Street Advisory.  Mr Brown also sits on the boards of University of Western Sydney 
and ANZ Stadium, is the convenor of the Committee for Liverpool and chairs the 
Western Sydney Leadership Dialogue. 

Zorana Bull, non-executive director – BA, MA, GAICD
Appointed 8 May 2013 (term expired 7 May 2016)

Ms Bull has a strong background in construction, engineering and transport, 
leading transformational projects to drive business performance turnaround. She 
has managed complex expectations and inter-relationships between public and 
private sector and advised on major public private partnerships (PPPs), alliances 
and joint ventures dealing with infrastructure investment opportunities. She 
holds a master’s degree from Oxford University in Engineering, Economics and 
Management. Ms Bull is currently a non-executive director of Port Authority of 
NSW, AirRoad Pty Ltd, Fancy Engineering Ltd and Guide Dogs NSW/ACT.  She is 
managing director of boutique strategy consultancy Altura Partners Pty Ltd.      

Lucio Di Bartolomeo, non-executive director 
BE(Civil), MEngSc, FAIM, FCILTA, MIEA
Appointed: 2 May 2016

With over 40 years’ experience in the transport industry, Mr Di Bartolomeo brings 
extensive knowledge in rail, infrastructure and engineering fields to the MIC board 
as a non-executive director. He is currently the Chairman of Northwest Rapid 
Transit and Eco Logical Australia and a non-executive director of Australian Super. 
He was, until recently, also a non-executive director of Australian Rail Track 
Corporation. Prior to taking on non-executive director roles, Mr Di Bartolomeo was 
the Managing Director of ADI Limited, Country Director of Thales (Australia) and 
Managing Director of FreightCorp.

Claire Filson, non-executive director
LLB, MBA, Grad. Dip. Applied Corporate Governance
Appointed: 13 December 2012 (re-appointed on 13 December 2015 for a further 
3-year term)

Ms Filson is Deputy Chair of Port of Hastings Development Authority and a Director 
of TT-Line Pty Ltd and Box Hill Institute. She has experience in construction 
law and financial services in both regulatory and private sector settings and  
previously worked with PPPs. Ms Filson has strong commercial, financial and 
governance skills, with extensive experience working with audit, finance and risk 
committees. 

Louise Thurgood, non-executive director – BA, MBA, GAICD
Appointed: 8 May 2013 (term expired 7 May 2016)

Ms Thurgood has over 20 years’ experience in dynamic, complex, fast-growing 
global companies in the banking, finance, investment and infrastructure sectors. 
Her extensive risk-skill experience extends across a wide range of industries, 
including infrastructure, agriculture, construction, renewable energy, mining and 
consumables. Ms Thurgood is currently a non-executive director of Clearview Life 
Nominees.  

Stephen Williams, non-executive director – MBA
Appointed: 13 December 2012 (resigned 12 December 2015) 

Mr Williams has a strong project finance background and has led deal teams 
from both a borrower and lender perspective. He has skills and experience in 
investment appraisal, strong commercial and risk sharing appreciation and a 
thorough understanding of private sector finance and investment, gained from 
both an industry and finance sector perspective. Mr Williams’ experience includes 
CEO, Country Executive and Head of Banking, Royal Bank of Scotland Australia 
from 1999 to 2012. 

Ray Wilson, non-executive Director – ACA
Appointed: 13 December 2012  
(re-appointed on 13 December 2015 for a further 3-year term)

Mr Wilson has a strong background in accounting, investment banking and 
large scale infrastructure development. Mr Wilson is a Founding Principal and 
Director of Plenary Group – an international infrastructure business. Mr Wilson’s 
experience also includes Head of Infrastructure and Head of Debt Markets and 
Securitisation at Barclays Bank/ABN AMRO. Prior to his investment banking career, 
Mr Wilson was a chartered accountant at Price Waterhouse and KPMG.  
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee was established 
on 15 March 2013. The Audit and Risk Committee 
comprised the following directors:

 Ύ Stephen Williams (chair until resigned  
12 December 2015)

 Ύ Claire Filson (chair from 4 December 2015)
 Ύ Louise Thurgood (retired 7 May 2016)
 Ύ Paul Binsted (appointed 12 December 2015)
 Ύ Ray Wilson (appointed 26 May 2016)

IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE

The Implementation Committee was established 
on 21 June 2013. The Implementation Committee 
comprised the following directors:

 Ύ Ray Wilson (chair)
 Ύ Kerry Schott
 Ύ Paul Binsted
 Ύ Zorana Bull (retired 7 May 2016)

No Implementation Committee meetings were 
held during the financial year, with all committee 
activities being undertaken by the board as a 
whole. 

The board agreed at its meeting held on  
30 October 2015 that implementation matters 
would be considered by the board as a whole,  
and there would be no further committee meetings 
required. 

EXTERNAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

The External Affairs Committee was established on 
18 July 2014, and was chaired by Mr Christopher 
Brown.

The External Affairs Committee comprised the 
following directors:

 Ύ Christopher Brown (Chair) (retired 7 May 2016)
 Ύ Claire Filson
 Ύ Louise Thurgood (retired 7 May 2016)

Attendees can be any non-executive director who 
attends a committee meeting and/or relevant 
members of MIC management including MIC’s 
Chief Executive Officer, Corporate Affairs Manager, 
and Communications Coordinator. 

The board agreed at its meeting held on 26 May 
2016 that external affairs would be considered 
by the board as a whole, and there would be no 
further meetings of the External Affairs Committee. 

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE 

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
was established on 19 September 2014 and held  
its inaugural annual meeting on 25 June 2015.  
The committee comprised the following directors:

 Ύ Kerry Schott (Chair)
 Ύ Claire Filson
 Ύ Louise Thurgood (retired 7 May 2016)
 Ύ Stephen Williams (resigned 12 December 2015)

The board agreed at its meeting held on 26 May 
2016 that remuneration and nomination matters 
would be considered by the board as a whole, 
and there would be no further meetings of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

 ▪ Company secretary

Jane Webster was appointed to the position 
of General Counsel and Company Secretary 
from 11 August 2014.  Ms Webster has 18 years’ 
experience. Prior to joining Moorbank Intermodal 
Company, Ms Webster held a senior legal and 
company secretarial position in a listed company 
and was a senior infrastructure lawyer at a national 
law firm.  Ms Webster has a Bachelor of Laws from 
the University of NSW and is an Associate of the 
Governance Institute of Australia and Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA).

 ▪ Meetings of Directors

The number of meetings of the Company’s board of directors and board committees held during the year 
ended 30 June 2016, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

 
Board 

Audit & Risk  
Committee

External Affairs 
Commitee

Director A B A B A B

K Schott 10 10 - 3* - 1*

P Binsted 10 8 1 1 - -

C Brown1 8 7 - - 4 4

Z Bull2 8 8 - 2* - 3*

C Filson 10 9 4 4 4 2

L Thurgood3 8 8 4 4 4 3

S Williams4 4 4 3 2 - -

R Wilson 10 6 - - - -

L Di Bartolomeo5 2 1 - - - -

A =  Number of meetings held which a director or committee member could attend

B = Number of meetings attended 

* = Attended meetings ex officio

- = Non-Committee Member, attendance is not required.

1 = Christopher Brown retired on 7 May 2016 

2 = Zorana Bull retired on 7 May 2016

3 = Louise Thurgood retired on 7 May 2016

4 = Stephen Williams resigned on 12 December 2015

5 = Lucio Di Bartolomeo was appointed on 2 May 2016

 ▪ Directors acting on the committees of the board during the year were:
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indemnifies the director or officer to the full extent 
permitted by law against all losses or liabilities 
incurred as a director or  officer of the company.

As at 30 June 2016, no claims have been made.

 ▪ Insurance

During the reporting period, the company has paid 
or agreed to pay premiums for contracts insuring 
directors and officers of the company against 
liabilities incurred in that capacity. The directors 
have not included the details of the nature of the 
liabilities covered or the amount of the premiums 
paid in respect of these insurance contracts, as 
such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of 
the contract.

Under the directors and officers deeds of 
indemnity, the company has undertaken to insure 
against certain liabilities incurred as a director and 
officer of the company.

No known liability has arisen under the insurance 
contract as at the date of this report.

 ▪ Auditor independence

The directors received an independence 
declaration from the Auditor-General.  A copy of 
this report has been included with the financial 
statements.

 ▪ Rounding of amounts

The financial report is presented in Australian 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise stated, 
under the option available to the company under 
ASIC Class order 98/100.

 ▪ Options

No options over issued shares or interests in the 
company were granted during or since the end 
of the financial year, and there were no options 
outstanding as at the date of this report. No shares 
were issued during or since the end of the year as 
a result of the exercise of an option over unissued 
shares or interests.

 ▪ Indemnification of officers

The company’s constitution includes indemnities in 
favour of persons who are or have been a director 
or officer of the company. To the maximum extent 
permitted by law, the company will indemnify 
every current and former director or officer 
against:

 Ύ any liability incurred by the person in that 
capacity (except a liability for legal costs);

 Ύ legal costs incurred by the person in 
connection with legal proceedings in which the 
person becomes involved in that capacity or in 
obtaining certain legal advice relevant to the 
performance of their functions and discharge 
of their duties as an officer of the Company.

In accordance with the company’s constitution, 
the company has entered into a deed with each 
director of the company (Director’s Deed) and 
each officer of the company (Officer’s Deed). 
These deeds formalise the arrangements between 
the company and its directors and officers as to 
indemnities, insurance and access to company 
records. Under each deed, the company 

 ▪ Principal activities

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate 
the development of an intermodal freight precinct 
at Moorebank, Sydney, NSW.

 ▪ Corporate information 

Moorebank Intermodal Company is a public 
company limited by shares that is incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. The registered office of 
the company is Level 9, 1 O’Connell Street, Sydney 
NSW 2000.  The company is wholly-owned by the 
Commonwealth of Australia.

 ▪ Operating results

The loss of the company after income tax was  
$3 million. 

 ▪ Review of operations

The review of operations of the group is contained 
in the Chair’s and Chief Executive Officer’s report.

 ▪ Significant changes in  
the state of affairs

During the year, the company received equity 
injections totalling $21 million.

There were no other significant changes in the 
state of affairs of the company during the year.

 ▪ Likely developments and 
expected results of operation

Likely developments and the expected results of 
operations of the company are contained in the 
Chair’s and Chief Executive Officer’s report.

 ▪ Dividends

There was no dividend provided for or paid in the 
current year by the company.
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Moorebank Intermodal Company Limited (MIC) 
is committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance which it considers essential 
for a successful company and to be in the best 
interests of its shareholders. 

MIC’s governance framework is regularly reviewed 
to ensure it aligns to the government, regulatory 
and legislative requirements, and best market 
practice.   MIC’s governance practices continue to 
evolve having regard to the: 

 Ύ Public Governance, Performance and 
Accountability Act 2013 (Cth) (PGPA Act) 
and Public Governance, Performance and 
Accountability Rule 2014 (PGPA Rule 2014); 

 Ύ Corporations Act 2001; 
 Ύ Commonwealth Government Business 

Enterprise Governance and Oversight 
Guidelines (August 2015) (GBE Guidelines); and

 Ύ MIC’s Commercial Freedoms Frameworks, 
as revised periodically and approved by the 
shareholder ministers.

This statement, which was approved by the board 
on 20 September 2016 outlines MIC’s corporate 
governance framework.

 ▪ Our shareholders

OWNERSHIP

Moorebank Intermodal Company Limited (MIC) is 
a Government Business Enterprise (GBE) wholly 
owned by the Commonwealth of Australia to 
oversee the development and future operation of 
the Moorebank intermodal terminal.

SHAREHOLDER MINISTERS

The shareholder ministers are the Hon  
Darren Chester MP, Minister for Infrastructure  
and Transport (being the responsible minister)  
and Senator the Hon Mathias Cormann,  
Minister for Finance.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

MIC regularly reports to its shareholder ministers, 
in compliance with the PGPA Act and the  
GBE Guidelines.

Under the GBE Guidelines, MIC submitted  
its Corporate Plan 2015-16 and Statement  
of Corporate Intent to its shareholder ministers  
in July 2016. MIC will continue to provide an 
updated Corporate Plan and Statement of 

Corporate Intent to its shareholder ministers  
on an annual basis.  

MIC’s Annual Report is submitted to the 
responsible minister in accordance with section 97 
of the PGPA Act. 

The Auditor-General is required by the PGPA Act 
to audit the financial report of MIC. The Australian 
National Audit Office (ANAO) assists the Auditor-
General in performing those functions.

 ▪ Board of directors

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The board has ultimate responsibility for the 
performance of MIC and is fully accountable to  
the shareholder ministers.

The board is responsible for the company meeting 
its accountability obligations to the Australian 
Government by submitting corporate plans and 
annual reports, monitoring compliance with 
Australian Government policies and for the 
development, implementation and monitoring 
of an effective governance and risk management 
framework.  

MIC is committed to working to meet stakeholder 
and community expectations of robust and best 
practice corporate governance to ensure MIC 
achieves its intended purpose, complies with all 
relevant laws, codes and directions and meets 
expectations of probity, accountability and 
transparency.

MIC recognises the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the board and management 
through delegations of authority, including a list 
of matters reserved for the board.  This enables 
the board to provide strategic guidance to MIC 
and effective oversight of management’s decision 
making processes.  The delegations of authority 
clarify the respective roles and responsibilities of 
board members and senior executives in order to 
facilitate board and management accountability to 
the company and its shareholders. 

The board is responsible for the management 
of the company under the constitution. The 
board has reserved for itself certain powers and 
authorities and responsibility for the day to day 
management of the company is delegated to the 
CEO and management.  The main powers that the 
board has reserved for itself, which align to those 
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matters in respect of which the company may not 
proceed to act without the prior approval of its 
shareholders, are:

1. termination, or agreement to termination, 
by the company or any of its subsidiaries of 
project agreements;

2. assignment by the company or any of 
its subsidiaries of any contract rights or 
obligations under any project agreements;

3. approval to any material changes to the 
precinct master plan; 

4. agreement to use of the areas designated as 
biodiversity areas for any other purpose; and

5. amendments or waivers to any project 
agreement that:
a. result in a commitments and/or other 

liabilities (whether contingent or 
otherwise) exceeding $15 million in 
aggregate across all such changes; 

b. could have a negative effect on the 
achievement of the company’s objectives, 
as set out in the constitution; or

c. have a detrimental effect on the 
Commonwealth’s risk position.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Under MIC’s constitution, the board is to  
consist of not less than three and not more  
than nine directors. The chair is appointed  
by the shareholder ministers in accordance  
with the constitution.

Directors are appointed by the shareholder 
ministers under MIC’s constitution and the  
GBE Guidelines. The term of office of a director  
is determined by the Commonwealth at the  
time of appointment. This is usually for a term  
of three years.

CHAIR

Dr Kerry Schott, an independent non-executive 
director, was appointed chair on 13 December 
2012 and was re-appointed on 13 December 2015 

development site and receipt of a detailed manual 
with information on the company’s corporate plan 
and other reporting, company policies, legislative 
requirements and meeting arrangements.  The 
board has regular discussions with the CEO and 
management, and directors are invited to attend 
the precinct development site from time to time. 

Ongoing education for directors is provided 
through presentations and briefings.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The directors of MIC are obliged to disclose to 
the company any interests or directorships which 
they hold with other organisations and to provide 
updated information in a timely manner, being a 
standing agenda item at each board meeting.  

Where a director:

 Ύ has a declared material personal interest; or
 Ύ may be presented with a potential material 

conflict of interest,

the director will not participate in any discussion 
or voting when the matter is being considered at 
the board or committee meeting.  All disclosures 
made by a director are minuted and a register of 
conflicts is maintained. 

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

Directors may seek independent professional 
advice, at MIC’s expense, in carrying out their 
duties.

Each director has direct access to management 
and any MIC information they require in order 
to make informed decisions and fulfil their 
responsibilities.

 ▪ Board committees

To assist in the performance of its responsibilities, 
the board established the following board 
committees, being:

1. Audit and Risk Committee, established on  
15 March 2013;

2. Implementation Committee, established on  
21 June 2013 (disbanded 30 October 2015);

3. External Affairs Committee, established on  
18 July 2014 (disbanded 26 May 2016) ; and 

4. Remuneration and Nominations Committee, 
established on 19 September 2014 (disbanded 
26 May 2016). 

Each committee is chaired by a non-executive 
director and comprises a majority of independent 
non-executive directors.  Membership of each 
committee is based on directors’ qualifications, 
skills and experience.  Each committee is governed 
by a charter, detailing the committee’s role, 
membership requirements and duties.  Each 
charter is reviewed periodically. 

On 30 October 2015, the board resolved to dissolve 
the Implementation Committee, and on 26 May 
2016, the board resolved to dissolve the External 
Affairs Committee and the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. With a board comprising 
of five independent non-executive directors, 
effective from 7 May 2016, the board will deal with 
all business as a whole apart from the Audit and 
Risk Committee.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

In accordance with the requirements of the 
GBE Guidelines, the Audit and Risk Committee 
consists of three members, each being an 
independent non-executive director. The chair of 
the committee, Ms Claire Filson, is an independent 
non-executive director appointed by the board and 
is not the chair of the board.

The role of the committee is to assist the board 
in satisfying itself that MIC is complying with its 
financial management and reporting obligations 
imposed by the PGPA Act, the Public Governance 
and Accountability Rule 2014, the GBE Guidelines 
and the Corporations Act 2001, and provides a 

for a further 3-year term.  The chair of the board is 
responsible for the leadership of the board and for 
the efficient and proper functioning of the board, 
including maintaining relationships with  
the shareholders.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

In line with the GBE Guideline requirements,  
the board annually reviews the performance of the 
board as a whole, each director, including  
the chair, and board processes.

The chair will provide the shareholder ministers 
with written confirmation that this review process 
has been followed and raise any areas of concern.

MIC’s annual assessment of board performance 
during the reporting period comprised an 
independent, external assessment of the  
board’s functioning and size, and directors’  
skills, consistent with the GBE Guideline.  
A skills matrix was developed to allow the  
chair and shareholder ministers to assess the 
requisite skills for the company going forward.   
A report on all recommendations from the  
external review was discussed with the board  
and then with the shareholder ministers, with  
an agreed action plan implemented. 

BOARD DIVERSITY

MIC fosters a governance culture that embraces 
diversity in the composition of boards. As at  
30 June 2016, 40 per cent of MIC board directors 
were women. 

DIRECTOR INDUCTION AND EDUCATION

MIC has an induction program for new directors 
which is reviewed periodically by the company 
secretary.  On appointment, each director 
receives a formal letter of appointment from the 
shareholder ministers.  MIC has an induction 
program for new directors which includes 
meeting with management, a tour of the precinct 
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forum for communication between the board,  
MIC management, and MIC’s internal and  
external auditors. 

The committee supervises the preparation 
of periodic financial statements of MIC to 
ensure compliance with its financial reporting 
requirements, monitors and reviews the effective 
management of financial risks, the application of 
up-to-date accounting policies, development and 
maintenance of effective and efficient internal and 
external audit processes, maintenance of auditor 
independence and performance and compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations.

The membership of the committee, the number of 
meetings during the period 1 July 2015 to 30 June 
2016 and the number of meetings attended is set 
out in the Directors’ Report.

IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE

The Implementation Committee was established 
to assist the board in fulfilling its governance 
responsibilities by monitoring and supporting 
management of MIC in the areas of procurement, 
construction, activation, maintenance and 
all matters relating to health, safety and 
environmental risks or issues.

Consistent with the Implementation Committee 
Charter, the committee consisted of at least  
three members, each being non-executive 
directors and one with major construction, 
engineering or procurement experience.

The Implementation Committee did not meet 
separately during the period 1 July 2015 to 30 June 
2016; instead the board considered all matters 
in relation to procurement, health, safety and 
environmental risk as a specific agenda item at 
each monthly board meeting.   

As permitted by section 27 of the Auditor General’s 
Act, the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) 
contracted KPMG in Sydney to assist with the 
conduct of part of the audit on behalf of the 
Auditor-General.

The Audit and Risk Committee invites the external 
auditor to each committee meeting and papers 
for each meeting are provided to both the ANAO 
and KPMG, noting the following matters that the 
committee considers:

 Ύ discussion of the external audit plans, identify 
any significant changes in operations, internal 
controls or accounting policies likely to impact 
the financial statements;

 Ύ review of the results and findings of the 
auditor, the adequacy of internal controls 
and monitor the implementation of any 
recommendations made; and

 Ύ finalising annual reporting, review the 
preliminary financial statements prior to sign-
off and any significant adjustments required as 
a result of the external auditor’s findings.

MIC applied audit independence principles in 
relation to the external auditor. 

KPMG has the opportunity to meet with committee 
members to discuss matters in camera.

CERTIFICATION BY CEO AND FINANCE 
DIRECTOR 

Prior to the approval each year of the annual 
financial statements by the board of directors,  
the Chief Executive Officer and the Finance  
Director provide confirmation in writing that the 
statements represent a true and fair view of  
MIC’s operations and its financial position.   
The letter also includes representation to the 
board in respect of the adequacy and effectiveness 
of MIC’s risk management, internal compliance 
and control systems. 

Based on the evaluation performed as at 30 June 
2016, the Chief Executive Officer and Finance 
Director concluded that, as of the evaluation  
date, such risk management, internal compliance 
and control systems were reasonably designed 
that the financial statements and notes of  
MIC are in accordance with the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Act 2013  
and the Corporations Act 2001 and there  
are reasonable grounds to believe MIC will be  
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.  

INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

The board is responsible for the overall internal 
control framework and for reviewing its 
effectiveness.

MIC’s internal control framework is intended to 
meet the objectives of:

 Ύ completeness of financial reporting
 Ύ safeguarding the company’s assets
 Ύ complying with applicable laws and 

regulations
 Ύ ensuring effectiveness and efficiency of 

operations
 Ύ maintaining proper accounting records
 Ύ preventing, detecting and correcting 

irregularities
 Ύ identification and mitigation of business risks.

A number of internal controls have been 
implemented to provide for the accuracy of the 
financial statements and integrity of business 
systems. 

These internal controls include the form of 
appropriate delegations of authority, a risk 
management framework, financial planning and 
reporting, strategic planning and operational 
policies and practices.

EXTERNAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

The External Affairs Committee was established 
to ensure MIC’s communication and stakeholder 
engagement strategy was effectively and 
appropriately implemented. 

Consistent with the External Affairs Charter,  
each committee meeting consisted of at 
least three members including the chair 
of the committee. Attendees could be any 
other non-executive director who attends a 
committee meeting and relevant members of 
MIC management including MIC’s Chief Executive 
Officer, Corporate Affairs Manager,  
and Communications Coordinator. 

The membership of the committee, the number of 
meetings during the period 1 July 2015 to 30 June 
2016 and the number of meetings attended is set 
out in the Directors’ Report.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
was established to oversee MIC’s remuneration 
and nomination review process.

Consistent with the Remuneration and 
Nominations Charter, the committee consisted 
of the chair of the committee and three non-
executive directors.   

 ▪ Accountability and audit

EXTERNAL AUDIT

Under section 98 the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Act 2013, the 
Auditor-General is responsible for auditing the 
financial statements of MIC.  In addition, MIC’s 
annual report is tabled in Parliament and its 
financial accounts are lodged with ASIC. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT

MIC has developed a Risk Management Framework 
and continues to build a comprehensive risk 
register that captures the material business risks 
facing the company.

It is the role of the Audit and Risk Committee to 
oversee the Risk Management Framework.  
In particular, the committee oversees:

 Ύ the adequacy of policies and procedures for 
the oversight and management of material 
business risks;

 Ύ the design and implementation of effective 
risk management and internal control systems 
for identifying, assessing, monitoring and 
managing MIC’s material business risk; and

 Ύ reporting to the board on whether those risks 
are being managed effectively.

INTERNAL AUDIT

In August 2013, the Audit and Risk Committee 
approved the appointment of Ernst & Young as 
internal auditor. The committee also adopted an 
Internal Audit Charter.

An internal audit plan is presented to and 
endorsed annually by the Audit and Risk 
Committee.  Outcomes of the internal audit 
reviews are provided to the committee for its 
review. 

ETHICAL STANDARDS AND GOVERNANCE 
POLICIES

MIC is committed to a culture of high ethical 
standards and accountable conduct. This includes 
creating and maintaining an open working 
environment in which its employees, directors and 
contracted service providers (and their employees 
and officers) are able to raise concerns regarding 
suspected unethical, unlawful or undesirable 
conduct or wrongdoing without fear of reprisal. 

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT

MIC is subject to the Public Interest Disclosure 
Act 2013 and has adopted procedures to ensure 
the company supports and complies with the 
requirements of the act. The purpose of the  
PID Act is to promote the integrity and 
accountability of the Commonwealth public  
sector by:

 Ύ encouraging and facilitating the making of 
public interest disclosures of wrongdoing 
by current and former public officials (being 
employees and directors of MIC, contracted 
service providers and officers/employees of 
contracted service providers);

 Ύ ensuring that disclosers are supported and 
protected from adverse consequences related 
to the making of a disclosure; and

 Ύ ensuring that disclosures are properly 
investigated and dealt with. 

MIC supports reporting by staff at all levels.  
MIC supports protection for those who make those 
reports from victimisation and discrimination as 
a result of making the report. MIC recognises the 
value of transparency and accountability in its 
administrative and management practices.  
A summary of MIC’s procedures, the appointed 
MIC ‘authorised officers’ and how a disclosure 
under the Act can be made has been included on 
MIC’s website http://www.micl.com.au/public-
interest-disclosure-act-1

MIC notes that no public interest disclosures were 
received or finalised in the reporting period. 

CODE OF CONDUCT

MIC is committed to and promotes the highest 
standards of integrity and ethical behaviour. 
MIC aims to carry out its business in an open 
and honest manner, while complying with all 
applicable legislation and laws.

MIC has put in place a Code of Conduct, which 
outlines expected standards of workplace 
behaviour applying to all directors, employees and 
contract staff.  The Code of Conduct is reviewed 
periodically, with the board adopting amendments 
in April 2016. 

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY AND FRAUD 
AND CORRUPTION REPORTING

As a Government Business Enterprise, MIC is 
committed to applying and adhering to the 
standards outlined in the Commonwealth Fraud 
Control Guidelines 2011. 

MIC has a Whistleblower Policy and Fraud and 
Corruption Prevention Policy that support the 
company’s commitment to maintaining an open 
working environment which encourage disclosure 
of improper conduct without fear of intimidation 

or reprisal.   MIC is committed to supporting and 
protecting those who report suspected violations 
in good faith.  The Whistleblower Policy and Fraud 
and Corruption Prevention Policy are reviewed 
periodically, with the board adopting amendments 
in April 2016.  

PRIVACY

MIC has a Privacy Policy that sets out how MIC 
employees, contractors and consultants must 
manage any personal or sensitive information 
in order to comply with the requirements of the 
Privacy Act 1988 (Cth), as amended.  The Privacy 
Policy is reviewed periodically.

A copy of the policy has been included on MIC’s 
website at www.micl.com.au/privacy-policy.aspx

45
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Moorebank Intermodal Company Ltd
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2016

  2016 2015
 Notes $’000 $’000

REVENUE   
Interest income  279 198
Other income  1 -

Total revenue 3 280 198
   

EXPENDITURE   
Employee benefits expense 4 2,305 2,523
Occupancy costs  426 350
Adviser costs 4 690 2,166
Contractor costs  133 504
Recruitment  42 63
Insurance  146 189
IT expenses  239 211
Travel costs  66 79
Depreciation and amortisation 4 52 57
Other expenses  290 314

Total expenditure  4,389 6,456

(Loss) before income tax  (4,109) (6,258)
   
Income tax benefit 5 1,089 1,877 

(Loss) for the year  (3,020) (4,381)
   
Other comprehensive income  - -

Total comprehensive income  (3,020) (4,381)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(ACN 161 635 105)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2016

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016

  2016 2015
 Notes $’000 $’000

ASSETS   
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 6 21,647 15,920
Trade and other receivables 7 480 123
Other current assets 8 182 13,849

Total current assets  22,309 29,892
   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 11 5 52
Assets under construction 12 6,135 -
Other non-current assets 13 18,840 -
Intangible Assets 14 1 6
Deferred tax assets 15 7,066 5,977

Total non-current assets  32,047 6,035

Total assets  54,356 35,927

LIABILITIES   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 16 2,272 1,790
Provisions 19 53 86

Total current liabilities  2,325 1,876

Total liabilities  2,325 1,876
   

Net assets  52,031 34,051

EQUITY   
Contributed equity 20 69,000 48,000
Retained earnings  (16,969) (13,949)

Total equity  52,031 34,051

 Retained Contributed Total
 Earnings  equity equity
 $’000  $’000 $’000

Balance at 30 June 2014  (9,568) 23,000 13,432

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
Loss for the year (4,381) - (4,381)
Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income (4,381) - (4,381)
    

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS,  
IN THEIR CAPACITY AS OWNERS  
Contributions of equity - 25,000 25,000

Balance at 30 June 2015  (13,949) 48,000 34,051

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
Loss for the year (3,020) - (3,020)
Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income (3,020)  (3,020)
    

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS,  
IN THEIR CAPACITY AS OWNERS  
Contributions of equity - 21,000 21,000

Balance at 30 June 2016  (16,969) 69,000 52,031

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016

  2016 2015
 Notes $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Payments to suppliers  (2,455) (17,916)
Payments to employees  (2,566) (2,585)
Net GST received  742 1,243
Interest received  279 198

Net outflow from operating activities 21 (4,000) (19,060)
   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Payments for assets under construction and non-current assets  (11,273) -

Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities  (11,273) -
   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from equity funding 20 21,000 25,000

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities  21,000 25,000

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  5,727 5,940
   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  15,920 9,980

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6 21,647 15,920

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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The principal accounting policies adopted in  
the preparation of the consolidated financial 
report are set out below. These policies have  
been consistently applied to all the years 
presented. The financial report is for the 
consolidated entity consisting of Moorebank 
Intermodal Company Limited (MIC) and its 
subsidiaries.

Moorebank Intermodal Company Limited 
(the parent) is an unlisted public company 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. It is a 
company limited by shares and is wholly owned 
by the Government of the Commonwealth 
of Australia. MIC is a Government Business 
Enterprise, incorporated under the Corporations 
Act 2001 and operating under the Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 
2013. MIC was incorporated on 13 December 2012.

The consolidated financial report of the  
Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 
2016 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries 
together referred to as the “Group”.  
The ultimate controlling entity of the Group is  
the Commonwealth Government.

a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial report has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board, the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board.

The financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements.

MIC is a for profit consolidated entity for the 
purpose of preparing the financial report.

The consolidated financial report is presented 
in Australian dollars. Values are rounded to the 

around hedge accounting and impairment. The 
standard is not applicable until 1 January 2018 
but is available for early adoption. The directors 
do not expect this to have a significant impact on 
the recognition and measurement of the Groupt’s 
financial instruments as they are carried at fair 
value through profit or loss. The derecognition 
rules have not changed from the previous 
requirements, and the Group does not apply hedge 
accounting. AASB 9 introduces a new impairment 
model. The Group has not yet decided when to 
adopt AASB 9.

• AASB 15  
Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(effective from 1 January 2018)

AASB 15 will replace AASB 118 Revenue which 
covers contracts for goods and services and 
AASB 111 Construction Contracts which covers 
construction contracts. AASB 15 is based on the 
principle that revenue is recognised when control 
of a good or service transfers to a customer – so 
the notion of control replaces the existing notion 
of risks and rewards.

The directors do not expect the adoption of AASB 
15 to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
accounting policies or the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. The Group has not yet 
decided when to adopt AASB 15.

• AASB 16  
Leases (effective from 1 January 2019)

MIC expects to apply AASB 16 Leases from FY  
2019-20. This Standard will require the net present 
value of payments under most operating leases to 
be recognised as assets and liabilities.  Currently 
MIC has $1.1M in operating lease commitments

There are no other standards that are not yet 
effective that are expected to have a material 
impact on the Group in the current or future 
reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions.

b) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. 
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial report 
from the date on which control commenced until 
the date on which control ceases. Details of MIC’s 
subsidiaries are shown in notes 9 and 10.
 
(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and 
any unrealised gains and losses or income and 
expenses arising from intra-group transactions  
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial report.

c) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, to the extent 
it is probable the economic benefit will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.

d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes: cash on hand; 
deposits held at call with financial institutions;  
and other short-term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, 
which are readily convertible to known amounts  
of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

e) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recorded 
at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Receivables expected to be collected within 12 
months of the end of the reporting period are 

nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial report has been 
prepared on a going concern basis and in 
accordance with the historical cost convention, 
except for certain classes of non-current assets, 
financial assets and financial liabilities which are 
measured at fair value.

The Group has consistently applied the accounting 
policies set out below to all periods presented in 
this consolidated financial report.

(i) Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial report complies with 
International Financial Report Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board.

(ii) New and amended standards adopted by 
the Group

No accounting standard has been adopted 
earlier than the application date as stated in the 
standard. New and revised standards that were 
issued prior to the signing date, and are applicable 
to the current reporting period, did not have a 
financial impact, and are not expected to have 
future financial impact on the Group financial 
report.
 
(iii) New accounting standards and 

interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are 
applicable to future reporting periods and have 
not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s 
assessment of the impact of these new standards 
and interpretations which may be relevant to the 
Group are set out below. 

• AASB 9  
Financial Instruments (and applicable 
amendments) (effective from 1 January 2018)

AASB 9 addresses the classification, measurement 
and derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. It has now also introduced revised rules 

 ▪ 1. Summary of significant accounting policies
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classified as current assets. All other receivables 
are classified as non-current assets.

Any impairment allowance for doubtful debts 
raised to reduce the carrying amount of 
receivables is based on a review of outstanding 
balances at balance sheet date.

f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation on assets is calculated using the 
straight line method to allocate their cost, net of 
their residual value, over their estimated useful 
lives as follows:

Useful Life
 Ύ Computer equipment 3 years
 Ύ Leasehold office Improvements 3 years

The leasehold rail access works asset will be 
depreciated over the lease contract term.

g) Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets are measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent 
expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable 
that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to MIC.

h) Intangible assets

The Group’s intangible assets comprise purchased 
software for internal use. These assets are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Software 
is amortised on a straight line basis over its 
anticipated useful life. The useful life of the 
Group’s software is three years. 
 
i) Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment at 

o) Taxation

(i) Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period 
is the tax payable or receivable on the current 
period’s taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
difference and to unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for 
temporary differences on the initial recognition 
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if 
certain criteria are met.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused 
tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised.

(ii) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised 
net of the amount of associated GST, unless the 

GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In this case, it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense.

Receivable and payables are stated inclusive of 
the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included with other receivable 
and payables in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net 
of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority.

p) Financial instruments

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets 
into the following categories: financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity 
financial assets and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial 
liabilities into the other financial liabilities 
category.

(i) Non-derivative financial assets  
and financial liabilities –  
recognition and de-recognition

The Group initially recognises loans and 
receivables and debt securities issued on the date 
when they are originated. All other financial assets 
and financial liabilities are initially recognised on 
the trade date. 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive 
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 

each reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment wherever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

j) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks 
and rewards of ownership are not transferred to 
the Group as lessee are classified as operating 
leases (note 17). Payments made under operating 
leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are charged to the Statement of Profit 
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

k) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid and measured at 
cost. The amounts are unsecured and are usually 
paid within 30 days of recognition.

l) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims and make good 
obligations are recognised when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount has been reliably estimated.

m) Employee benefits

Short-term obligations
Liabilities for ‘short-term employee benefits’ (as 
defined in AASB 119) and termination benefits due 
within twelve months of balance sheet date are 
measured at their nominal amounts.

n) Share capital

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair 
value of the consideration received by the Group.
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In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting  
estimates are recognised prospectively

a) Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised. The recognition of the deferred tax 
asset (see note 15) of $7,066,000 is considered 
appropriate following an assessment of the overall 
forecast profit and taxation position.  
The equivalent figure for FY15 was $5,977,000.

b) Capitalised costs
Land improvements, preliminary work on the 
construction of a rail access line and costs 
associated with entering into this agreement with 
SIMTA totalling $24,975,000 (see notes 12 and 
13) have been capitalised on the assumption that 
future economic benefits associated with these 
assets will flow to MIC.

 ▪ 2. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

 ▪ 3. Revenue

 ▪ 4. Expenses

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

INTEREST INCOME  279 198
Other income  1 -

Total Revenue  280 198

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

DEPRECIATION  
   IT Equipment  32 36
   Leasehold improvements  15 15

Total Depreciation  47 51

AMORTISATION  
   Computer Software  5 6

Total Amortisation  5 6

Total Depreciation and Amortisation  52 57
  

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  
   Wages and salaries  2,087 2,322
   Defined contribution superannuation expense  218 201

Total Employee Benefits Expense  2,305 2,523
  

MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS  
  Minimum payments under operating leases  299 286

Total Minimum Lease Payments  299 286

ADVISER COSTS  
   Technical Consultant Fees  88 745
   Commercial Fees  - 700
   Legal Fees  176 263
   Stakeholder Management  143 104
   Financial / Governance  283 310
   Other  - 44

Total Adviser Costs  690 2,166

which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred, 
or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership and does 
not retain control over the transferred asset. Any 
interest in such derecognised financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Group is recognised 
as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when 
its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 
and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group 
has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends 
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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 ▪ 5. Income tax (benefit)

 ▪ 6. Current assets – Cash and cash equivalents

 ▪ 7. Current assets – Trade and other receivables

 ▪ 8. Current assets – Other current assets

 ▪ 9. Non-current assets - Investment in subsidiaries

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

(A) INCOME TAX EXPENSE / (BENEFIT)  
   Deferred tax - in respect of the current year  (1,089) (1,877)

Total Income tax expense/ (benefit)  (1,089) (1,877)
  

(B) NUMERICAL RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX EXPENSE TO   
PRIMA FACIE TAX PAYABLE  

(Loss) before income tax benefit  (4,110) (6,258)

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30%  (1,233) (1,877)
Permanent differences  2 
Under (over) provision in prior year  142 

Income tax expense / (benefit)  (1,089) (1,877)

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000
 
Cash at bank  21,647 15,920

Total  21,647 15,920

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 22.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

GST receivable  480 123

Total  480 123

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

Prepayments  181 147
Other assets  1 13,702

Total  182 13,849

Capitalisable costs incurred by the Group up to 30 June 2015 totalling $13,702,000 have been transferred to 
other non-current assets.

On 29 May 2015, MIC formed two wholly owned subsidiaries:
i. Moorebank Intermodal Development Investment Nominees Proprietary Ltd
ii. Moorebank Intermodal Development Rail Nominees Proprietary Ltd

 ▪ 10. Investment in controlled entities

  Country of Ownership Interest
 Subsidiary Incorporation 2016 2015

Moorebank Intermodal  
Development Investment Nominees Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Moorebank Intermodal  
Development Rail Nominees Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

  Country of Ownership Interest
 Trust Incorporation 2016 2015

Moorebank Intermodal  
Development Investment Trust Australia 100% 100%

Moorebank Intermodal  
Development Rail Trust Australia 100% 100%
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 ▪ 11. Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment  ▪ 12. Non-current assets – Assets under Construction

 ▪ 13. Non-current assets – Other non-current assets

 Leasehold IT 
 improvements Equipment Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000

AS AT 1 JULY 2014   
Cost 45 107 152
Accumulated depreciation (11) (38) (49)

Net book value 34 69 103
   

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015   
Opening net book value 34 69 103
Depreciation charge (15) (36) (51)

Net book value 19 33 52
   

AS AT 30 JUNE 2015   
Cost 45 107 152
Accumulated depreciation (26) (74) (100)

Net book value 19 33 52
   

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016   
Opening net book value 19 33 52
Depreciation charge (15) (32) (47)

Net book value 4 1 5
   

AS AT 30 JUNE 2016   
Cost 45 107 152
Accumulated depreciation (41) (106) (147)

Net book value 4 1 5

 

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000
 
Opening balance  - -
Additions  6,135 -

Total  6,135 -

Assets under construction represents preliminary work on the construction of a rail access line connecting 
the intermodal terminal to the Southern Sydney Freight Line.

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000
 
Opening balance  - -
Additions  5,138 -
Transfers  13,702 -

Total  18,840 -

Other non-current assets represent capitalisable costs incurred by the Group in relation to the preparation 
of Commonwealth Land and costs associated with entering into the agreement with SIMTA. The transfer of 
$13.702M relates to FY 2014-15 costs associated with entering into the agreement with SIMTA that have been 
transferred from other current assets.
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 ▪ 15. Non-current assets – Deferred tax assets ▪ 14.  Non-current assets – Intangible assets

 ▪ 16. Current liabilities – Trade and other payables

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES  
Opening balance  3,001 2,095
Provisions and accruals  52 32
Project costs  26 664
Prior year adjustments - return to provision  (239) 210

  2,840 3,001

UNUSED TAX LOSSES AND CREDITS  
Opening balance of unused tax losses  2,976 2,005
Prior year adjustments - return to provision  97 (210)
Current year losses / (Recoupment)  1,153 1,181

  4,226 2,976

Total  7,066 5,977

MOVEMENTS:  
Opening balance at 1 July  5,977 4,100
Credited to the Consolidated Statement of Profit and  
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  1,089 1,877

Closing balance at 30 June  7,066 5,977

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

Trade payables  409 1,323
Accruals  1,795 397
Other payables  68 70

Total  2,272 1,790

Trade payables are settled within 30 days.
Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rates and liquidity risk is set out in note 22.

   Computer
   Software
   $’000

AS AT 1 JULY 2014 
Cost   18
Accumulated amortisation   (6)

Net book value   12
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 
Opening net book value   12
Additions   -
Amortisation charge   (6)

Net book value   6
 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2015 
Cost   18
Accumulated amortisation   (12)

Net book value   6
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 
Opening net book value   6
Amortisation charge   (5)

Net book value   1
 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2016 
Cost   18
Accumulated amortisation   (17)

Net book value   1

The Group does not anticipate any significant disposals of property, plant & equipment or intangibles in the 
next 12 months. There were no indicators of impairment of property, plant & equipment or intangibles as at 
30 June 2016.
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 ▪ 20. Contributed equity

 ▪ 21. Reconciliation of (Loss) for the year to net cash outflow from operating 
activities

  2016 2015
 a) Share capital  $’000 $’000

Fully paid  69,000 48,000

  69,000 48,000

Number of ordinary shares  69,000,000 48,000,000

 b) Movements in ordinary share capital   
 Date Details Number of shares $’000

30 June 2014 Balance 23,000,000 23,000
4 December 2014 Equity injection 5,000,000 5,000
1 April 2015 Equity injection 10,000,000 10,000
23 June 2015 Equity injection 10,000,000 10,000

30 June 2015 Balance  48,000,000 48,000
31 March 2016 Equity injection 21,000,000 21,000

30 June 2016 Balance  69,000,000 69,000

Ordinary shares
The Group does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. All issued shares are 
fully paid. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person, or by proxy, 
is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each fully paid share is entitled to one vote. The holders of these 
shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time. 

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

(Loss) for the year  (3,020) (4,381)

ADJUSTMENTS FOR:   
Depreciation and amortisation  52 57
Non cash taxation benefit  (1,089) (1,877)

Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions  (4,057) (6,201)
   
Changes in trade debtors and other receivables  (357) 220
Changes in other current assets  (35) (13,660)
Changes in trade and other payables  482 525
Changes in provisions  (33) 56

Net cash outflow from operating activities  (4,000) (19,060)

 ▪ 17. Operating leases

 ▪ 18. Contingent assets and liabilities

 ▪ 19. Provisions

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to  
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:  
Within one year  204 360
Later than one year but not later than five years  885 15
Later than five years  - -

Total  1,089 375

The Group entered into a non-cancellable property lease effective from 1 August 2016 with a term of five 
years. Fixed rental provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be 
increased by 4.25% per annum.
The Group entered into a non-cancellable parking lease effective from 1 August 2016 with a term of five 
years, which is subject to market review increases.

As at 30 June 2016, the Group does not have any outstanding contingent assets and liabilities.

  2016 2015
 Employee benefits  $’000 $’000

BALANCE AT 1 JULY  86 30
Provisions made/(used) during the year  (33) 56

Balance at 30 June  53 86
  
Non-current  - -
Current  53 86

Total  53 86

Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave.
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 ▪ 23. Related party transactions

The Group’s main related parties are as follows:

a) Ultimate controlling entity

The ultimate controlling entity of the Group is the Commonwealth Government.

b) Directors

A Director related entity includes any legal, administrative or fiduciary arrangement, organisational 
structure or other party, including a person, having the capacity to deploy equity instruments in order to 
achieve objectives. The entity must be under joint or overall control or significant influence of a Director or 
his/her related parties.
There were no related party transactions with Directors during the year. 
There were no loans to Directors during the year.

 ▪ 24. Directors and Key Management Personnel disclosures

 a) Directors

The following persons were Directors of Moorebank Intermodal Company Limited during the financial year:
I. Chair K Schott 
II. Non-executive Director P Binsted 
   C Brown (retired 7 May 2016)
   Z Bull (retired 7 May 2016)
   L Di Bartolomeo (appointed 3 May 2016)
   C Filson 
   L Thurgood (retired 7 May 2016)
   S Williams (resigned 12 December 2015)
   R Wilson
 
 
b) Key Management Personnel

 Chief Executive Officer I Hunt  
 General Counsel/Company Secretary J Webster
 Finance Director J Tarrant  
 Delivery Director A Vaccaro

 ▪ 22. Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and payables. The carrying amount equates to the 
fair value of the financial instruments. These activities expose the Group to interest rate risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk.

As at 30 June 2016, the Group held the following financial instruments:

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS  
Cash and cash equivalents  21,647 15,920

Total  21,647 15,920
  

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  
Trade and other payables  477 1,393

Total  477 1,393

Financial Risk Management Policies

The Board’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Group in meeting its financial targets.  
Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board.

A. CREDIT RISK
All cash and cash equivalents are held with AA rated financial institutions within Australia and therefore 
credit risk is considered minimal.

B. LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group is not currently exposed to any 
significant liquidity risk on the basis that the realisable value of financial assets is significantly greater than 
the financial liabilities due for settlement.

C. MARKET RISK
Exposure to interest rate risks arises on interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities recognised 
at the end of the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect either the future cash 
flows or the fair value financial instruments.

At 30 June 2016, the Group had no interest-bearing financial liabilities.
 

Fair Values

The carrying amount equates to the fair value of the financial instruments.
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 ▪ 26. Parent entity financial information

As at and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2016 the parent company of the Group was 
Moorebank Intermodal Company Ltd.
The individual financial reports for the Moorebank Intermodal Company Ltd show the following aggregate 
amounts.

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

RESULT OF THE PARENT ENTITY   
Loss for the year  (3,020) (4,381)
Other comprehensive income  - -

Total comprehensive income for the period  (3,020) (4,381)

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE PARENT ENTITY AT YEAR END  
Current assets  29,749 29,892
Non-current assets  23,321 6,035

Total assets  53,070 35,927
   
Current liabilities  1,039 1,876
Total liabilities  1,039 1,876

Net assets  52,031 34,051

TOTAL EQUITY OF THE PARENT ENTITY  
Issued capital  69,000 48,000
Retained profits  (16,969) (13,949)

Total equity  52,031 34,051

The outstanding balances on related party receivables at year end are:

  2016 2015
  $’000 $’000

Name of related party
Moorebank Intermodal Development Investment Trust  2,450 -
Moorebank Intermodal Development Rail Trust  5,650 - 

Total  8,100 -

c) Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel

  2016 2015
  $ $

Short-term employee benefits  1,692,446 1,700,062
Post-employment benefits  131,055 142,158

Total  1,823,501 1,842,220

 ▪ 25. Remuneration of auditors

  2016 20145 

Australian National Audit Office  
Audit of financial report  94 51

Total auditor’s remuneration  94 51

The financial statement audit services are provided to MIC by the Auditor-General. No other services were 
provided by the Auditor-General during the reporting period. 
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20 September 2016

In the opinion of the Directors of Moorebank Intermodal Company Limited (“the Company”):

(a) the  consolidated financial statements and notes set out on pages 46 to 69 are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 
2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements, and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and 
of its performance, as represented by the results of its operations, changes in 
equity and its cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable.

The Directors draw attention to note 1(a) to the financial statements which includes a 
statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by  
the International Accounting Standards Board.

This declaration is made on 20 September 2016 in accordance with a resolution of  
the Directors.

Kerry Schott
Chair

DIRECTORS'
Declaration
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Independent  
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regulatory    
reporting   requirements   index

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Section Subject Location Pages

97 Financial report
Directors’ report
Auditor’s report

Financial statements
Directors’ report
Independent auditor’s report

46-69
28-35
72-73

PUBLIC GOVERNANCE, PERFORMANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY AMENDMENT  
(COMMONWEALTH COMPANY ANNUAL REPORTING) RULE 2016

28B Approval of annual report by directors Approval by directors 76

28C Parliamentary standards of presentation Annual Report All

28D Plain English and clear design Annual Report All

28E The purpose of the company as included in the 
company’s corporate plan 

Corporate Governance 
Statement

38-45

28E Names of the persons holding the position of 
responsible Ministers during the period and the 
title of those Ministers 

About Moorebank Intermodal 
Company and Corporate 
Governance Statement

4 and 
38

28E Ministerial directions and other statutory 
requirements 

Operational Report 14-25

28E Information about directors including: 
 Ύ Name; 
 Ύ Qualifications;  
 Ύ Experience; 
 Ύ Number of meetings attended by the director 

during the period; and 
 Ύ whether director is an executive or non-

executive director. 

Directors’ Report 28-35

28E Outline of organisational structure (Including any 
subsidiaries); 
 Ύ Outline of the location of major activities or 

facilities; 
 Ύ Statement on main corporate governance 

practices; and 
 Ύ Decision-making processes. 

About Moorebank Intermodal 
Company, Organisational 
Structure and Corporate 
Governance Statement 

4,5, 
26, 

38-45

28E Related entity transactions Notes to the Financial 
Statements

51-69

Section Subject Location Pages

28E Key activities and changes affecting the operations 
or structure of the company during the period. 

Directors’ Report, Message from 
the Chair and CEO, Operational 
Report and notes to the 
Financial Statements

28-35 
8-13 
14-25 
51-69

28F Disclosure requirements for GBEs 
 Ύ an assessment of significant changes in overall 

financial structure and conditions over the 
financial year; 

 Ύ any event or risks that could cause reported 
financial information not to be indicative of 
future operations or financial conditions; 

 Ύ dividends paid or recommended in relation to 
the financial year; 

 Ύ details of any community service obligations, 
including an outline of actions taken to achieve 
these obligations and assessment of cost of 
fulfilling these obligations. 

Directors’ Report 28-35

28E Index of annual report requirements Regulatory reporting 
requirements index

74-75

COMMONWEALTH GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISE GOVERNANCE AND OVERSIGHT 
GUIDELINES (AUGUST 2015)

2.2 Effective governance framework  Corporate Governance 
Statement 

38-45

2.20 Board performance Directors’ Report 28-35

3.13 Annual report - Performance against financial and 
non-financial expectations  

Annual Report Operational 
Report

All

3.14 Statement on Governance  Corporate Governance 
Statement

38-45

Indemnities and insurance premiums for officers Directors’ Report 28-35

CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

295 & 
296(1)

Financial Report consisting of: Financial 
statements  Notes to financial statements; and 
Directors’ declaration. 

Financial Report  46-71

298-
300A

Directors’ report, including the auditor’s 
independence declaration 

Directors’ Report 28-35

301 & 
308

Auditor’s report Independent Auditors Report 72-73

WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY ACT 2011

Schedule 2, Part 4 – Annual reporting requirement 
for Commonwealth companies

Operational Report 14-25

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION AND BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION ACT 1999

Section 516A – Annual reporting requirements for 
Commonwealth companies

Operational Report 14-25



Suite 2, Level 9 - 1 O’Connell Street - Sydney NSW 2000

APPROVAL 
BY 
DIRECTORS

This Annual Report was approved by a resolution of the Directors of Moorebank Intermodal Company 
Limited, made on 20 September 2016.

Kerry Schott
Chair
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